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  Praise for Extreme Eiger




  ‘Every new book by Peter and Leni Gillman is a cause for celebration and Extreme Eiger is no exception. They bring to their work compassion, intellectual rigor,

  and the sort of original thinking that elevates their books well beyond the genre of mountaineering literature. Extreme Eiger is a story of courage and competition, triumph and tragedy,

  that will appeal to anyone keen to know just what happens to those who risk everything to achieve their dreams.’ Wade Davis – author Into The Silence: The Great War, Mallory, and

  the Conquest of Everest




  ‘Peter and Leni Gillman have given a detailed, human and absorbing account of this extraordinary story. It is utterly compelling and in places so vivid that it is

  vertigo-inducing. Several times I found myself involuntarily leaning back in my chair. It says far more about the human condition than most mountaineering accounts and is all the more fabulous for

  being told even-handedly from both German and British/American perspectives. A tour de force.’ Julie Summers – author Fearless on Everest; Jambusters; When the Children Came

  Home




  ‘Expertly assembled, marvellous telling detail, with fine photos and route-diagrams. Layton Kor, who I partnered on several first ascents, would have been thrilled to

  read his story and those of the two Eiger Direct teams.’ Ed Webster – mountaineer and author Snow in the Kingdom, My Storm Years on Everest




  ‘I’m fascinated that the story of the Eiger Direct half a century ago continues to ripen and touch our lives – and that as Peter Gillman peers back through

  his retrospectroscope, he sees, among much else, a half-a-century younger Peter Gillman watching the plot unfold in real time. Extreme Eiger combines imaginative new inquiry with fine

  storytelling to do justice to this historic ascent. This new telling reveals how what began as a competition between German and Anglo-American teams to be first, ended as a collaboration – an

  outcome that captures humankind at its best. The Gillmans’ tale is moving, gripping and exhausting. I’m hooked.’ Tom Hornbein – mountaineer and author Everest, the West

  Ridge




  ‘Extreme Eiger is a terrific story, objectively told but with exactly the right balance of humanity and sentiment. It takes immense skill to write such a

  meticulous day-by-day account and keep the pages turning, and to pull off the trick of hooking casual readers as well as mountaineers. It stands as the definitive account of a tragic but ultimately

  record-breaking ascent of Europe’s most unforgiving mountain, and the best possible memorial to those who took part.’ Richard Girling – author Sea Change –

  Britain’s Coastal Catastrophe; Greed; The Hunt for the Golden Mole




  ‘I loved it, a real page-turner. Peter and Leni Gillman have done a superb job. Bringing in the recollections of the German teams makes it a gripping read and adds real

  poignancy as well.’ Steve Dean – author Hands of a Climber: A life of Colin Kirkus; secretary and trustee, Boardman Tasker Charitable Trust.




  ‘An impressive work, meticulously researched and, as far as I can see, scrupulously accurate. The Gillmans have tracked down the surviving Germans and their accounts are

  every bit as gripping as the better-known one of Haston. This is an important contribution to Eiger history, and the Gillmans deserve congratulation on such a compelling and well-written

  book.’ Jim Curran – author K2 – The Story of the Savage Mountain; High Achiever – the Life and Climbs of Chris Bonington




  ‘One of the greatest strengths of this book is its empathetic telling of so many powerful stories. It will, in my opinion, became a mountaineering classic. It is a

  skilfully written and sensitive account of a group of ambitious, seemingly invincible young men who, like so many before them, were lured into the spider’s lair.’ Noel Dawson,

  Climb Magazine
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Prologue





  THE SEARCH




  Grindelwald was larger than I remembered. We arrived after dark and found ourselves in a busy tourist resort, with a stretch of hotels and cafés near the railway station

  and the lights from the shop fronts spilling across the street. It was nothing like the homely Alpine village I had somehow imagined from forty-eight years before. Our hotel, the Gletschergarten,

  was on a road winding up out of town in the direction of the Eiger. We did not know it until we arrived, but the hotel has history, for this is where Heinrich Harrer often stayed after he and his

  three comrades made the first ascent of the Eiger’s North Face in 1938.




  A papier mâché model of the mountain stands on a table in a room near the reception desk, and the guest book contains a photograph of Harrer, relaxed and distinguished with his

  receding grey hair, which was taken at the hotel on the fiftieth anniversary of the first ascent. Our bedroom was on the top floor and looked west, towards where I knew the Eiger should be. All we

  could see of it from our window that night was a brooding mass, inky black against the velvet sky, with a distant, solitary light that I knew to be the climbers’ hut on the crest of the

  Mittellegi Ridge.




  As always when coming to the Eiger, the weather was a concern. Which aspect would the mountain present to us the next day? Would it be hidden behind its habitual curtain of

  cloud, a token of the storms that rage in the amphitheatre of the North Face? Or would it be clear, revealing the terrible beauty that has lured climbers to its heart? In the morning the Mittellegi

  Ridge was sparkling in the early sun. The face was still beyond our view and even though the sky was clear, with a few wisps of cloud suspended in the valley, I was anxious to move up to Kleine

  Scheidegg in case the weather turned against us and the vision was gone.




  We caught the train at Grindelwald soon after ten, competing for seats with the skiers who crowded on board. As the train climbed out of the valley the North Face slid into sight, rising so

  steeply above the track that it was hard to pick out its individual features, leaving the impression of a monumental ziggurat towering into the azure sky. Kleine Scheidegg was unquestionably larger

  than I had known, with a cluster of new buildings beside the station and an incongruous red and white wigwam bearing the Coca-Cola logo a few metres from the platform. The face was mostly obscured

  from our sight by the Hotel Bellevue des Alpes as we walked up the slope to its entrance.




  Above a flight of stone steps, swing doors opened into the hotel, the largest and oldest in Kleine Scheidegg. Once inside, I tried to orientate myself. Some things had changed. All that remained

  of the reception desk was a nest of pigeon holes where guests could leave their keys; the reception staff had moved to a large, airy room to its right. Facing the old reception desk was the

  telephone cabin where I had dictated my nightly news reports; there was no telephone inside, only the shelf where it had rested. There was an aroma in the air that I thought I recognised: maybe it

  was from the polished parquet floor, mingling with the scent of a vase of lilies that stood on a table beside the entrance.




  We had been allocated a room on the top floor. The hotel still had no lift, so we headed for the flight of stairs beside the lobby. There was a familiar wooden creak

  underfoot as I started on the first flight, a sound that reassured me that my memory could be trusted on some details at least. When we reached the first floor we had to pause to catch our breath:

  for a moment I felt dizzy and steadied myself on the banister. This was something I had not expected. Then I remembered that we were at an altitude of 2000 metres and were feeling the effects of

  the thinner atmosphere. I did not recall that from forty-eight years before, but I was a young man then – implausibly young, it seemed to me – and had spent the best part of a month at

  Kleine Scheidegg, giving me ample time to acclimatise.




  Our bedroom was where I had hoped, looking towards the Eiger on two sides. The North Face was framed by the window, thrown into relief by the scintillating light on the West Flank and the

  glacier beside the neighbouring Mönch. Even in shadow the face’s mythic landmarks were clear: the Second Icefield, the Traverse of the Gods, the white streak of the Spider with its legs

  radiating into the black rock around it, the Exit Cracks that led to the sanctuary of the Summit Icefield, where the angle relented at last and there was a gleam of sunlight across its crest. I

  gazed at the face, trying to absorb all that it meant to me, but after a while I felt overwhelmed and had to turn away.




  We descended the creaking stairs and explored the ground floor. I remembered the bar, of course, but two other rooms were harder to place. There was a spacious restaurant with ornate chairs and

  a parquet floor, but I could not picture myself there. Nor did I recall a lavishly furnished sitting room, crowded with armchairs and ornaments. But I did remember the Gaststube, the ‘guest

  room’, with its bench seats and long communal tables, which we found down a further flight of stairs. In 1966 I had spent most of my evenings there, as often as not in the company of the

  climbers, becoming acquainted with the varieties of fondue on offer, and with an enticing range of beer and wine. Those were the days when journalists could spend their

  employer’s money without inhibition or fear of retribution.




  Leni and I returned to the railway station and had lunch in the café on the main platform. We crossed the tracks to the Restaurant Hotel Eigernordwand – also new since 1966 –

  and drank coffee on a terrace with a grandstand view of the North Face. As the afternoon passed, the rays of the sun slid over the edge of the West Flank, spreading across the face and somehow

  reducing its menace. We were tempted to watch the light show unfold but there was still one item we wanted to locate.




  At first I thought we had found it beside a souvenir store next to our hotel, where a grey twin-barrel telescope sat on a plinth. It resembled a giant pair of binoculars and was directed towards

  the face. I posed for photographs beside it, but it did not fit my memories and I had to accept it was not the one we were looking for.




  We returned to the hotel and asked for the proprietor, Andreas von Almen – a surname legendary in the history of the hotel and the North Face. His uncle, Fritz von Almen, bought the hotel

  in 1925 and thereafter occupied centre stage as attempts and ascents on the face were played out, hosting climbers, coordinating rescues and providing a running commentary for the media. He was

  still there in 1966 and I remembered him from my stay, a tall, patrician figure who was a stickler for formality when it came to his guests’ dress codes – which was why I had so rarely

  eaten in his restaurant. He died in 1974 and the hotel went into decline until Andreas, an architect, and his wife Sylvia took it over in 1998 and began restoring it to its former grandeur. Andreas

  arrived in the lobby, a far less formal figure than his uncle, with raffishly long hair framing his face. I had intended to lead into the question gently but instinctively blurted it out:

  ‘Where is the telescope?’




  Von Almen led us along a corridor to an apartment beyond the guest bedrooms on the first floor. He showed us into his office and there, standing against the far wall, was

  the telescope. It had twin silvery barrels and rested on an elaborate tripod with two control wheels to adjust the height and spread of the legs. It was marked with its maker’s name: Zeiss of

  Jena.




  Von Almen had unearthed the telescope from among a jumble of furniture and ornaments in the hotel attic when he embarked on his restoration project. He now carried it to the centre of the room

  and we photographed it against the light flooding in through the windows. Still something jarred. I asked where the telescope used to stand and he opened a door on to a snow-covered terrace, where

  the North Face came into full view. The terrace was smaller than I remembered but von Almen explained that he had extended the hotel across one end to accommodate his office, thus reducing its

  length. Now everything fitted. This was where I had come to peer at the Eiger, searching for the two teams competing to climb the North Face by an audacious new route, measuring their progress as

  they vied to take the lead.




  The climb took more than a month, and one day stood out. After four weeks the climbers were poised to push for the summit. One team was ahead, the other was attempting to catch up. A merger

  between the teams had been mooted, but nothing had been decided. The climbers were ascending ropes they had fixed on the face in order to carry supplies and return to the high-point of the ascent.

  That afternoon a rope broke. I was watching through the telescope at that very moment and what I saw became etched in my memory.




  Soon afterwards I wrote a book, Eiger Direct, with the climber Dougal Haston my co-author. It told the story of the climb in a spare and restrained fashion, reflecting the viewpoint of

  a 24-year-old reporter, as I then was. It focused on one of the teams, an international partnership led by the American climber John Harlin. While the book included what we

  knew about the rival German team, it reflected little of their experiences or point of view. Since then, the climb has never been far from my mind. I have considered its impact, its aftermath, its

  meaning. I have especially pondered what I saw in that moment I happened to be at the telescope. Was it a random event, the outcome of a game of existential roulette? Or was it foreseeable,

  predictable, even inevitable? I had still not reached a conclusion when I resolved that I should write this book.




  Leni and I went to Kleine Scheidegg in March 2014. In March 1966, when I was reporting the climb for the Daily Telegraph, we had been married for a little more than

  three years and had two young children. For a time we pursued separate careers: Leni as a teacher, me as a journalist. Since the 1980s, when Leni gave up teaching, we have been writing books and

  articles under our shared by-line. We undertake our research and frame our story together; when we reach the writing stage, mine are the fingers on the keyboard and Leni is the editor. Even though

  this book is mostly written in the first person singular, it is no different. We conducted the research in Switzerland together and made a further research trip to the US.




  We were also fortunate in having the assistance of the mountaineering writer and historian Jochen Hemmleb. We have known each other and worked together on a range of projects for twenty-five

  years, after we discovered a shared passion for the history of Mount Everest. Jochen secured the help of the five surviving German climbers, whom we met during visits in October 2013 and February

  2014, and he remained in touch with them as we continued our researches. Jochen was tireless in handling the further questions that inevitably arose and his knowledge and expertise have been vital

  in shaping the book, which could not have been written without him.




  It is said that it is usually only when you finish a story that you know where you should have started. For once that was not so: we knew we had to start in Kleine

  Scheidegg. But we were certain that we would learn things that would surprise us, even though we could not predict what they would be. That proved to be true. Much of our account offers a new

  perspective on what we thought we knew; some of it has never been told before.




  We had an invaluable record of the climb in the two books written within months of the climb: Eiger Direct, by myself and Haston, which was published in several languages, but not

  German; and Eiger: Kampf um die Direttissima, written by the two leaders of the German team, Peter Haag and Jörg Lehne, which was published in German and French, but not English. Each

  naturally favoured the experiences and points of view of their respective teams and so our book marries these for the first time. But there was much more to add, above all from our interviews with

  the five German climbers; with the one survivor of the international team, Chris Bonington, Britain’s best-known mountaineer; and with the family of John Harlin, whose name became indelibly

  linked with the climb. From all of this we have constructed an account which astonished even us for the levels of endurance and comradeship that it reveals; a story of loss, suffering and survival

  to which no previous accounts had done full justice.




  Our story also became an inquiry into the nature of human memory and how it influences narratives. Some of the stories we unearthed contradict the earlier published accounts – and

  sometimes each other. We have presented these for the insights they offer into the nature of human experience as mediated by memory. Where we have been unable to resolve the inconsistencies, we

  have presented them to illuminate the differing perceptions of those involved. Our researches also led me to confront my own memory and prejudices and sometimes to revise judgements I had made

  forty-eight years before. This project has been all the more exciting and fulfilling for that. We are full of admiration and respect for those who took part, even where we are

  occasionally critical of them, and we hope that this book serves as a tribute to a remarkable achievement as well as a memoir of an extraordinary time.




  





  
Chapter One





  WELL MET IN TRENTO




  The Saracini Cresseri palace in the Italian mountain town of Trento is a fitting venue for Europe’s foremost gathering of mountaineers. The palace was built in the

  sixteenth century and was occupied by a succession of aristocratic families, including the Saracini and the Cresseri, distinguished enough for the Duke of Gloucester, brother of King George III, to

  have stayed there in 1777. It has an imposing arched front doorway, with a double door of walnut, a matching pair of balconies above the doorway and two storeys of recessed windows looking out over

  the Via Giannantonio Manci – named for an anti-Fascist partisan who died at the hands of the Gestapo in 1944.




  The palace, which became the headquarters of the Trento Alpine Association in 1954, is one of the locations where Trento’s annual international mountaineering film festival is staged. The

  festival, first held in 1952, is an uninhibited celebration of mountaineering and exploration, subsidised by city and regional authorities who are determined to consolidate Trento’s

  reputation as the pre-eminent centre of Alpinism in Europe. Since 1972, when Trento became part of a self-governing province alongside South Tyrol, the festival has had the

  further purpose of underscoring the region’s autonomy. It has always attracted the finest climbers of the time, paying for their fares and their hotels, and laying on lavish buffets of hams

  and salamis, mountain cheeses, stews of goat and boar, copious quantities of beer and the robust and fruity red wines of the Trentino region. (The buffets became less extravagant in the austere

  climate of recent years.)




  When the festival was held in 1965, almost all who attended were from the principal Alpine countries: France, Germany, Austria, Switzerland and Italy. There were a few from Britain,

  reestablishing itself in the mountaineering rankings after turning its back on the Alps in the period between the two world wars. Implausibly, most of the climbers were conservatively dressed, with

  jackets and ties, whereas today the dress code would be a range of open-necked shirts and fleece jackets. Even so, one delegate was particularly noticeable, not only for his distinctive blond hair

  and his intense brown eyes, but for a muscular physique that stood out even in this assembly of the super-fit. His name was John Harlin, and he was the only American among the invited speakers.




  Harlin was no upstart. At thirty, he had won a reputation for climbing the toughest, most challenging routes in the Alps. Three months before, he and fellow American Royal Robbins had become the

  first to climb a new direttissima, or super-direct route, on the West Face of the Dru, an aiguille or pinnacle in the Mont Blanc massif. It had been a test of fortitude as well as

  technical prowess, for a falling rock had hit Harlin on the right thigh on the first day, injuring his sciatic nerve and causing internal bleeding which persisted to the time of Trento. Harlin had

  climbed through intense pain during the two days it took to complete the ascent, then made a treacherous descent with Robbins through electrical storms and blizzards. That topped a list of ascents

  which included the first by an American of the North Face of the Eiger. To that point Harlin had won far less acclaim in the US, but his renown in Europe was secure. This was

  the fourth time he had attended the festival.




  The most prestigious event of the festival consisted of the film awards which took place in the nearby Teatro Sociale. One was given for a documentary about the American expedition that had

  climbed Everest in 1963. The overall prize went to a short Polish film telling the winsome story of a teacher who has to walk to her school along a narrow mountain path. That led to muttering that

  the judging panel could be swayed by the politics of Europe in the 1960s, in this case the desire to award a prize to an Eastern European country then still part of the Soviet hegemony; perhaps to

  help loosen the grip of the Cold War, whose front line, in the shape of a high metal fence fortified with barbed wire, alarms and anti-tank ditches, ran through a divided Germany, ending 250 miles

  from Trento.




  Happily such considerations did not apply to the set-piece debate staged at the Palazzo Saracini Cresseri on 1 October 1965. The title was beguilingly simple: Perchè

  l’Alpinismo? Which translates as Why Alpinism? Or, more simply, Why Climb?




  It is the question to which climbers respond with varying degrees of impatience. The most succinct answer remains that of George Mallory, the Everest pioneer who made three attempts on Everest

  in the early 1920s, disappearing high on the mountain in 1924 and leaving the perpetual mystery of whether he and his partner Andrew Irvine reached the summit. In 1923, during a lecture tour of the

  US, Mallory was asked why he wanted to climb Everest. His celebrated three-word answer, ‘Because it’s there’, has a Zen-like simplicity which can be interpreted to mean everything

  or nothing.




  Prompted by the journalist Guido Tonella, who was chairing the discussion at Trento, the climbers served up a range of answers. Michel Vaucher, a Swiss Alpinist with a formidable list of summer

  and winter first ascents, said that mountaineering was the best way to know yourself. Toni Hiebeler, who made the first winter ascent of the Eiger North Face in 1961, said it

  was a need ‘that became more and more acute over time’. René Dittert, a leader of the Swiss expedition that so nearly pulled off the first ascent of Everest in 1952, said,

  echoing Mallory, that he climbed the mountains ‘because they were in front of him’.




  When Harlin’s turn came, he delivered not one but three reasons. ‘I climb because I like it; because my father climbed; and for some reason I cannot define.’




  The first part of Harlin’s answer seemed reasonable, if verging on the banal. The third hinted at hidden depths, a psychological mystery which even Harlin himself could not plumb, and was

  perhaps more accurate than Harlin cared to admit. The second was the most intriguing, as it was not true. Harlin’s father was an airline pilot and administrator, whom Harlin both admired and

  sought to emulate, having just spent five years as a pilot with the USAF, stationed for most of that time in what was West Germany. His father had helped imbue him with a love of the outdoors,

  taking him boating and fishing in Minnesota, where he grew up. But Harlin’s father, who was fifty-nine at the time of Trento, had never been a climber.




  No one at Trento was in a position to challenge Harlin’s falsehood. And it was characteristic of him that he should spin an engaging myth about his reasons for climbing and his

  relationship with his father. He had previously made a range of similar claims which turned out to be exaggerations or untruths. He claimed that he had climbed the North Face of the Matterhorn when

  he was twenty – even sending his future wife a postcard to that effect. Not true. He claimed to have been apprenticed as a dress designer to the renowned Pierre Balmain in Paris. Not true

  either. This carelessness with the truth was something his son, John Harlin III, had to come to terms with later in life. ‘Charitable friends say that he wanted these

  successes so badly that he probably came to believe in them himself,’ John Harlin Jr wrote. ‘I didn’t think that such self-deception was possible, but now I’m learning that

  it is.’ For his father, he added, ‘failure simply didn’t register’.




  The reasons for Harlin’s dissimulation form one aspect of a complex and controversial character who divided opinions among mountaineers. Harlin’s supporters praised him for the

  inspiration he provided both on the mountain and in their lives. He was considered a dreamer and visionary, with interests and talents going far beyond the confines of the mountains. He was an

  idealist, a sceptic and a radical who, after spending a year on a duty roster that entailed sleeping beside his nuclear fighter-bomber, ready to go into action against the USSR and its Communist

  allies, told the USAF he was no longer prepared to unleash bombs on his allotted target, the historic city of Prague. He was a writer, a painter, a poet, experimenting with a range of styles and

  displaying an emotional intelligence in his mountaineering writing to match that of Mallory, who sought to explore his feelings and motivations and those of his fellow mountaineers.




  Harlin’s detractors recoiled from what they saw as an overpowering personality, manipulative and controlling. They considered him a fantasist whose dreams far outstripped his ability to

  carry them out. He could be harsh towards those he disagreed with and prone to bursts of anger and violence. He was married with two children but in the perennial battle between mountaineering and

  family responsibilities, mountaineering usually won. His critics included climbers who had partnered him on challenging routes: Robbins wrote that Harlin ‘would have risked his life ten times

  over if he could have done it in a grand and heroic way’.




  On one thing both sides agree: as a climber, Harlin was single-minded and competitive, driven to the point of obsession – key qualities for the next mountaineering project Harlin had in

  mind. It so happened that another climber who took part in the debate at Trento shared some of those qualities, as well as Harlin’s objective.




  Peter Haag, a 28-year-old climber from Stuttgart in southern Germany, was at his first Trento festival. His climbing CV, although substantial, was less spectacular than Harlin’s. When his

  turn came to explain why he climbed, he was less enigmatic, more open than Harlin. He had started climbing because he had fallen in love with the sister of a mountaineer and used to meet her at the

  foot of a climb. ‘One day I realised I did not love her any more – but by then I had a passion for mountains.’




  Like Harlin, Haag had delivered a characteristic answer. Haag, said his wife Barbara in 2014, was a mountaineering romantic. They met while they were camping at the Mer de Glace, the glacier

  below Mont Blanc. For their very first trip together he took her to Switzerland to show her the North Face of the Eiger, and they were married a few weeks after the Trento festival. She was

  attracted by his spirited personality and a range of interests beyond climbing. He was a poet, a jazz pianist and a comic who once wrote a mountaineering cabaret poking gentle fun at his

  contemporaries and peers. His answer at Trento, belying stereotypes about Germans lacking a sense of humour, was the wittiest contribution to the debate. However, his story may have been no more

  accurate than Harlin’s. Barbara Haag had no knowledge of it, even though they had a close and loving relationship, raising the possibility that Haag too – a storyteller and troubadour

  – may have been expressing a poetic truth.




  In the story of the Eiger Direct, what transpired in the public discussion at the Palazzo Saracini Cresseri was less significant than what happened offstage. At some point during the festival,

  Harlin and Haag – who spoke excellent English – met over beers. By then, both knew that the other wanted to climb the route known, in a mix of languages, as the Eiger-Nordwand

  Direttissima, or more simply as the Eiger Direct. It was one of the hottest topics in mountaineering and would mark the first new route on one of the most dramatic and

  dangerous mountain faces in Europe.




  To many climbers of that era, the North Face of the Eiger remained the ultimate test. It is one of a trio of mountains in the front rank of the Bernese Oberland, the Highlands of the Swiss

  canton of Berne, so that it is the first to be hit by storms sweeping in from the north. Massive geological forces have hollowed out a mile-wide amphitheatre rising from the sloping green meadows

  of Alpiglen to the apex of a dauntingly exposed ridge that comprises its 3970-metre summit.




  The Eiger was first climbed in 1858 by an Irish adventurer named Charles Barrington, who approached the summit via its gentler West Flank, pausing to look in awe at the expanses of the North

  Face. An English Alpinist, Adolphus Moore, who made the third ascent of the Eiger in 1864, wrote of the face’s ‘rugged and precipitous character – a stone dropped from its edge

  would have fallen hundreds of feet before encountering any obstacle to its progress’. With its crumbling rock and its vast icefields and buttresses, swept by stone fall, torrents of water and

  avalanches, the face was considered so difficult and dangerous that not until the 1930s did any climbers venture on to it. In the space of three years, eight climbers died in successive attempts,

  succumbing to cold or exhaustion, in falls and in one hideous case being garrotted by the climber’s own rope. It was finally climbed in 1938 by a four-man team of Germans and Austrians who

  overcame the storms and avalanches to reach the summit four days after leaving their tents at Alpiglen.




  Further attempts and ascents of the North Face continued after the Second World War. In fifteen years, 109 climbers succeeded and fifteen died. John Harlin was number 86 on the list when he

  became the first American to reach the summit – one week ahead of the first British climbers to succeed, Chris Bonington and Ian Clough. But that did not satisfy

  Harlin. Almost from the moment he descended from the face he was formulating a plan to climb it again, but by a different route.




  The 1938 route was ingenious and distinctive for the way it snaked its way up the face as the climbers probed for the line of least resistance: slanting across the icefields, following the

  faultlines in the strata systems that led on a zigzag path to the Summit Icefield. By the early 1960s a new imperative was gripping climbers: to eschew the elegant lines of the first ascents in

  favour of routes that slashed their way up the great Alpine faces like scalpels. Their inspiration was said to come from the Italian Emilio Comici, who pronounced that the ideal route was one that

  followed the line of a drop of water falling from the summit.




  By October 1965, when he met Haag at Trento, Harlin had been on the North Face in quest of the Direct half a dozen times. Some of those forays were for reconnaissance, as he searched for a line

  of ascent. Twice he had made full attempts, in partnership with leading French and Italian Alpinists, and he had reached mid-height on the face. Without question, said his son John, the Direct had

  become his obsession. That was also the term used by Peter Haag’s wife Barbara, who recalled their visit to the face in the summer of 1965, when he pointed out the possible routes he might

  take. ‘He didn’t have a camera or a map,’ she said. ‘It was all in his head.’




  Now, in Trento, over wine and schnapps, warily at first, they discussed their plans. Both intended to make their attempt that winter when the loose rock is frozen into place and the face is no

  longer swept by torrents of water – although the storms can also be at their most intense, bringing winds of 120 kph or more and temperatures plunging below minus 20°C. But they soon

  learned of one major difference in their approach. Harlin intended to make his attempt in a team of three: himself; Chris Bonington, Britain’s most successful Alpinist; and a leading figure

  in a new generation of US rock-climbers, Layton Kor. Haag planned to climb with a team of eight, led jointly by himself and Jörg Lehne, a German climber who had taken

  part in the first great Alpine direttissima seven years before. Their six colleagues were all drawn, like Haag, from the southern German region of Swabia. They had no international

  reputation to match that of Harlin’s team but were respected in climbing circles for their resilience and determination to see things through.




  A photograph taken at Trento shows Harlin, with his distinctive blond hair neatly combed back, his jacket unbuttoned to reveal his tie, in a group that includes the British climber Bev Clark,

  later to play a small but significant part in the Eiger Direct. At the other end of the group is Peter Haag, with boyish looks that belie his twenty-eight years, his hand raised in a curious

  posture as if to block Harlin from his sight. It is a misleading image, since by Barbara Haag’s account he struck a rapport with Harlin that had him bubbling with enthusiasm when he described

  their meeting to Barbara. ‘They were sitting together at nights, drinking and smoking and talking and planning,’ she related in 2014. ‘He said it was wonderful.’ In a letter

  to Barbara, Haag told her that Harlin and Clark had drunk two litres of schnapps between them. Haag plied his songs and ‘played the piano for half the night’. After Haag took a rest,

  Clark dragged him back to the piano to continue playing – dislodging a journalist who had taken over the keyboard. It was all in character for Haag, who was sociable, made friends easily and

  disliked conflict and competition. Although Haag did not say so explicitly, Barbara believes that he would have preferred to form a combined enterprise with Harlin whereby the two teams would make

  one shared attempt on the Eiger Direct.




  There are no equivalent reports from the Harlin side. He did not go home and excitedly report his meeting with Haag. His wife Marilyn could not remember him mentioning the Germans at all

  after Trento. Nor did he tell his fellow team members, who were shocked when they eventually learned that a German team had started on the route they considered their

  territory. Harlin’s son John Jr believed his father would not have mentioned the Germans ‘until he had to’. His father, he added, was intensely competitive and would have kept his

  cards close to his chest. He had secured a lucrative deal with the Daily Telegraph and would not have wanted to share it. In addition, he would have opposed a unified attempt on several

  grounds. As the respective team sizes indicated, he had a radically different concept of how the climb should be attempted. Having been on the route half a dozen times, he had a proprietary

  attitude towards it which most climbers would understand. The Germans, by contrast, were newcomers, perhaps even interlopers or carpetbaggers. When I first met Harlin in November 1965, a month

  after Trento, he told me he would not be upset if another team climbed the Direct first. I was unsure whether to believe him then. Now, that looks like another Harlin fiction.




  In short, two driven men were pitched against each other to reach the same goal. The stakes were enormous: the climb would be played out, as climbs on the Eiger have always been, in a media

  glare. Ever since the first attempts of the 1930s, watchers at the telescopes at Alpiglen and Kleine Scheidegg have gazed at the antlike figures acting out life-and-death dramas on the face.

  Reporters were invariably out in force, avid for snippets of news and ready to resort to fabrication if the truth proved elusive. The leaders’ decisions would be scrutinised, mistakes

  magnified, success or failure rendered in melodramatic terms that could undermine their belief in what they were doing.




  There was a further dimension to the rivalry, freighting it with historical significance. Here were teams from countries that had been adversaries in the Second World War, which had ended just

  twenty years before. On one side were climbers from two of the victor nations, Britain and the US. On the other were climbers who came from a country devastated by defeat,

  who had contended with hardship in the post-war period, and were living in a divided nation that was decades away from assuming its economic mastery of Europe. Both Harlin and Kor had spent the war

  years in the US, remote from any conflict; Bonington, by contrast, had been in London when V2 rockets were falling in 1945 and experienced the rigours of food rationing during and after the war. As

  for the German climbers, their memories included seeing Allied bombers pounding the cities of Swabia, sheltering in cellars, watching the arrival of American tanks, and fleeing from the Red Army as

  it neared Berlin. They had known rationing and deprivation during the Allied occupation and its aftermath and believed that these hardening experiences served them well on the Eiger.




  The Trento festival ended on 2 October. Harlin returned to Leysin in Vaud, Haag to Swabia. There were three months to go before the attempts were likely to start. Both had to plan their

  strategies and draw up their equipment lists. Harlin had the financial advantage: while he had secured backing from the Daily Telegraph, Haag was wondering how much he should ask his

  climbers to contribute to the team kitty. Both would encounter setbacks as they prepared for the climb. Both knew that they were facing a formidable challenge, but both felt ready for anything that

  came. Harlin described it as the culmination of his climbing experience: ‘I feel that everything I have done in the mountains leads to this.’




  For Haag, the romantic, the Eiger had become ‘a very great love’, as he told Barbara in a letter shortly after Trento. ‘I have to think of her every free minute, to woo her, to

  plan.’ He wrote that he was about to go to Grindelwald, equipped with a telephoto lens, ‘to take pictures of my great love in winter dress’.




  ‘The Eiger,’ Barbara said, ‘was his dream.’




  





  
Chapter Two





  THE REDOUBTABLE BEAUFOYS




  Even the name is the subject of myth and speculation. It is often written that Eiger is German for Ogre and that the mountain thus occupies an appropriate position alongside

  its two more benign neighbours, the Mönch, or Monk, with its cowl of ice and snow, and the Jungfrau, or Maiden, with its demure yet alluring appearance. Sadly, this is not so. The German for

  ogre is Ungeheuer, and if you look for Eiger in a German dictionary it is not there. The name first appeared as ‘mons Egere’ in a document in 1252 and is a contentious topic

  among philologists and etymologists. One argues that since the document was a land deed, the name was that of the farmer who first settled the meadows below the face, one Agiger or Aiger, which was

  later shaded into Eiger. Another proposes that Eiger is based on Latin and/or Greek words meaning sharp, pinnacle or peak. A third suggests that it derives from a Germanic dialect phrase dr hej

  Ger – a ger being a sharp spear used in warfare. It looks like one of those disputes that will happily remain unresolved. But it says something of the mountain’s aura that

  people persist in believing that Eiger means a monster that consumes human beings.




  It is likely that Herr Aiger or Agiger moved up into the meadows below the mountain from Grindelwald, the village that sits at the northern approach to the Eiger and

  constitutes the principal gateway to the mountain. (In view of the Eiger’s sombre history, it seems appropriate that J.K. Rowling gave the name Grindelwald to her second most powerful Dark

  Wizard, the murderer and practitioner of the dark arts.) The village was first mentioned by name, Grindelwalt, in documents in 1146, half a century or so before Herr Aiger/Agiger was staking his

  claim to the grazing meadows. Over the ensuing centuries the people of Grindelwald were caught up in a series of lethal battles as rival barons and abbots fought for territory and the villagers

  were pressed into fighting for one side or the other. In the sixteenth century, following the Reformation, the village was forcibly converted to Protestantism, and then took a back seat in European

  history.




  That lasted until it was discovered by the pioneers of European tourism who preceded the first mountain climbers. It fired their imagination, inspiring a sense of awe that was common to all who

  came to gaze at the mountain. But while the tourists were content to explore its surroundings, the climbers wanted to engage with it, tackling it by ever harder routes – a progression that

  led eventually to the Eiger Direct.




  Among the earliest English visitors, and typical of the character of the age, were the redoubtable Beaufoys. Mark Beaufoy, who was born in 1764, came from a Quaker family in Bristol that became

  prosperous from brewing and selling vinegar. As a young man he conducted important early experiments into the resistance of solids in water and later made measurements of the degrees of magnetic

  variation in Britain. He also spent fifteen years in the British Army, rising to the rank of colonel. There was a hint of scandal in his early life, for in 1784 he eloped with his sixteen-year old

  cousin Margaretta and they were married at Gretna Green. They went to live in Neuchâtel, Switzerland, and had two children. In 1787 they rode the seventy-five miles to

  the Swiss Oberland in a horse-drawn wagon, a journey assiduously recorded by Margaretta in a diary which was later published in the Alpine Journal. First they visited Lauterbrunnen, to the

  west of the Eiger, then she and Mr B, as she called him, rode on to ‘the Valley of Grindenwalt’. There they ‘beheld with astonishment the amazing fertility and populousness of

  this place . . . Stupendous rocks whos [sic] impending summits threaten each moment to overwhelm the passenger necessarily strick one with horror.’ They lodged with a farming family and were

  impressed with the ‘honest integrity’ of the villagers.




  The Beaufoys first made a six-mile walk around the Lower Grindelwald Glacier, which flanks the eastern end of the Eiger. Margaretta found that glaciers ‘did not at all fulfil the idea I

  had formed of them . . . They appeard like a parcel of dirty Snow heaped together, but on a nearer view I must own there was nothing wanting to complete the horrid beauty of the scene.’ She

  marvelled at the pyramids of ice on the glacier surface and an ice arch that Mr B would not allow her to climb.




  After dining at their lodgings, they and a guide set off for another walk below the semi-circle of peaks formed by the Schreckhorn, Fiescherhorn and Eiger. Margaretta noted the ‘dazzling

  whiteness of the Summits’ and was then startled by what she took to be thunder. She looked up at the glacier to see ‘a large piece of ice rolling down with a horrid noise’. Later

  she related the miraculous escape of their farmer host following ‘an accident occasioned by one of these pieces of falling Ice, called Avelenches [sic]’. The farmer had been steering

  his cows to pasturage across a glacier when he was hit by falling ice. He fell through a hole in the glacier, landed in a torrent of meltwater sixty feet below and was disgorged lower down the

  glacier. ‘In short the poor fellow escaped the treble danger of being crushed by the Avelanche [sic], of dashing his brains out in a fall of 60 feet, and 3d of being

  drowned’ – all, she adds, ‘with the trifling remembrance (in comparison) of a broken arm.’




  Margaretta clearly had a relish for danger. Mr B was even more adventurous, as he left at four the next morning to inspect the Upper Grindelwald Glacier, where their host had his triple brush

  with death. To Margaretta’s relief, Mr B returned unharmed and they left Grindelwald the same day. Later that year the Beaufoys travelled to Chamonix where Mr B had his sights on nothing less

  than Mont Blanc, first climbed by two Frenchmen the previous year. He set off with ten guides and provisions for three days, wearing only loose-fitting white trousers and jacket. The party battled

  intense cold and mountain sickness to bring Mr B the first British ascent. He descended in distress, having rejected his guides’ advice to protect his face and eyes, and was both snow-blind

  and sunburned.




  At nineteen, Margaretta was evidently a well-read woman, steeped in the culture of her class and age. Later she assisted her husband in his experiments and observations, winning praise for her

  mathematical skills. Her take on the wild landscape around Grindelwald is in keeping with the Romantic writers and poets who were discovering the mountains and imbuing them with a wild and

  forbidding beauty that proved part of their attraction. Her liking of the word ‘horrid’ was of its time, when it meant awesome and scary (Milton wrote in L’Allegro of

  ‘horrid shapes, and shrieks, and sights unholy’). In addition, there is something about the confident spirit of this intrepid couple which foreshadows the stories to come. At times

  Margaretta felt ambivalent about her husband’s exploits, admiring his courage but unable to suppress her anxieties – a theme that, until recently, has been less prevalent in

  mountaineering narratives. Sadly, Margaretta died in 1800, when she was thirty-two; Mr B outlived her by twenty-seven years.




  The Beaufoys were pioneers in another respect. They were among the first tourists to Switzerland, helping to pave the way for an activity and industry that has become a

  key factor in the country’s enviable prosperity. It took the Beaufoys several days to reach Grindelwald in their horse-drawn wagon, but before long Switzerland was building the roads,

  railways and tunnels that rapidly multiplied the flow of tourists. The people of Grindelwald were quick to spot the business opportunities that came their way. Early visitors such as the Beaufoys

  were accustomed to rewarding their hosts with presents. The villagers began charging tourists for occupying beds in farmhouses and the cheese-makers’ chalets which dotted the meadows. The men

  who knew the mountains from herding sheep or hunting chamois set themselves up as guides, taking tourists to inspect the glaciers and venturing on to the heights above. In 1811 two local chamois

  hunters guided two wealthy Swiss merchants on the first ascent of the Eiger’s southwestern neighbour, the Jungfrau. In 1844 two Grindelwald guides, Hans Jaun and Melchior Bannholzer, made the

  first ascent of the Wetterhorn, to the north-east of the Eiger.




  These ascents were the prelude to what became known as the golden age of Alpinism, in which the British played the most important part. It was heralded by the ascent of the Wetterhorn by a

  London barrister named Alfred Wills in 1854. In the next decade, the British made the first ascent of dozens of Alpine peaks. In 1857 they formed the Alpine Club. Its members were university

  academics, barristers, solicitors, clergymen, bankers, City financiers and civil servants, thus illustrating the social composition of the new climbing world. All were men (the club finally voted

  to admit women in 1974). Most had attended English public schools, and many were graduates of Oxford and Cambridge universities. But it would be wrong to cast them as totemic members of the

  governing classes: many were non-conformists, atheists, radicals, scientists, who found in climbing a fulfilment all the more rewarding because it proved so challenging and

  intense.




  The golden age is considered to have finished on 14 July 1865, the day four members of a party led by Edward Whymper, an Alpine Club member, fell to their deaths after making the first ascent of

  the Matterhorn. These were the first deaths in action of any club members and are reckoned to have ended not only the golden age but also the Alpine Club’s age of innocence.




  The man who made the first ascent of the Eiger came from outside this gilded group, and had no background in mountaineering. In 1858 Charles Barrington made his only trip to the Alps. Aged

  twenty-four, he came from Dublin and had an intriguing provenance. His ancestors were Protestant settlers implanted in Ireland by Oliver Cromwell to subjugate the Catholic majority in the

  seventeenth century. The Barringtons became Quakers at about the time they set up a soap-manufacturing company which made the family wealthy enough to send its children on European tours. Charles

  Barrington was a man of leisure. He enjoyed yachting, hunting and shooting, and later rode his own horse to victory in the Irish Grand National. That summer he arrived in Grindelwald where he hired

  the two best local guides, Christian Almer and Peter Bohren. Almer, a former shepherd, cheese-maker and chamois hunter, had guided Alfred Wills and his party on the Wetterhorn in 1854. He guided

  three ascents of the Jungfrau in 1856, and in 1857 made the first ascent of the Mönch with a doctor from Vienna, Sigismund Porges. Bohren was known as the Gletscherwolf – the

  glacier wolf – for his skills on icy ground. They first climbed the Jungfrau together then supposedly sought the advice of ‘some Alpine men’ in Grindelwald on what to climb next.

  They told Barrington to try the Eiger or the Matterhorn. Since the Eiger was closer, it was the obvious choice.




  By then, hotels were being built in the most dramatic and picturesque Alpine vantage points. In 1840 the first inn was opened at the crest of the col between Grindelwald

  and Lauterbrunnen, a location known as Kleine Scheidegg, or Little Watershed. A second hotel was opened at the nearby resort of Wengernalp the following year. On the afternoon of 10 August 1858,

  Barrington and his guides walked up to the hotel at Wengernalp and snatched a few hours’ sleep. At 3.30 a.m. they set off up the Eiger’s West Flank, the easiest-angled of all its faces

  and ridges, which rises around 1650 metres to the summit at 3970 metres. Almer had previously attempted the West Flank with Dr Porges and had turned back at a steep section of rock at mid-height.

  When they reached this point the guides wanted to look for an alternative route, but Barrington insisted on tackling the rock head-on. He led the steepest section, ‘sticking like a cat to the

  rock’, and then dropped a rope for the two guides to follow. After veering to the very edge of the North Face, with views across the vastness down to Grindelwald, they reached the summit at

  midday.




  The guides gave Barrington the honour of stepping on to the summit first and they planted a flag which they had purloined from the hotel at Wengernalp. As clouds rolled in to shroud the summit,

  they started their descent, bypassing the steep rock section via a couloir where they narrowly escaped an avalanche. News of the attempt had spread and some thirty people were waiting for them when

  they reached the foot of the West Flank four hours after leaving the summit. They were escorted to the hotel at Kleine Scheidegg, then known as the Kurhaus Bellevue, where some residents doubted

  their account. But that evening the clouds around the summit cleared, revealing the flag they had planted. The hotel proprietor had installed a cannon to celebrate his guests’ feats and he

  fired it in Barrington’s honour. ‘Thus ended my first and only visit to Switzerland,’ Barrington wrote.




  Barrington’s ascent went almost entirely unrecorded, and it was only when his brother forwarded an account to the Alpine Club in 1878 that it was reported in the

  Alpine Journal. It was inscribed on his gravestone in Mount Jerome Cemetery, Dublin, in 2013, when the Irish climber and historian Frank Nugent, who was researching a book about Irish

  mountaineers, alerted Barrington’s descendants to his achievement.




  It may now be necessary to explain why the story of Eiger climbing does not end there. It is a mistake that even someone as eminent as Edmund Hillary could commit. In 1953, having made the first

  ascent of Everest with Tenzing Norgay, Hillary said that he could not imagine anyone wanting to repeat the climb. By 2014 there had been nearly 7000 ascents of Everest by twenty different routes,

  and that was the pattern on the Eiger. In 1861 the good doctor Porges made the second ascent, having replaced Christian Almer with three other guides. In 1864 Lucy Walker was the first woman to

  reach the summit. Walker, a lead merchant’s daughter from Liverpool, was the first woman to climb regularly in the Alps. She reached the summit of the Eiger with her regular guide, Melchior

  Anderegg, and her father and brother, both members of the Alpine Club. Having been excluded from the club, Walker was a founding member of the rival Ladies’ Alpine Club, formed in 1909 (it

  merged with the male Alpine Club in 1975). She was also the first woman to climb the Matterhorn, in 1871.




  By then climbers were looking for new ways of reaching the summit. The most obvious alternative to Barrington’s route lay up the South-west Ridge, which avoided the problematic rocks of

  the West Flank and ascended more ice and snow. The first ascent, in 1871, was led by three guides: Christian Almer, his brother Ulrich and Peter Bohren. Their clients were William Coolidge, a New

  Yorker who settled in Britain and joined the Alpine Club, his aunt Meta Brevoort and their dog Tschingel, which is said to have been a gift from Almer. In 1876, Alpine Club member George Foster

  and two guides climbed the South Ridge from the Eigerjoch, the saddle below the summit on the long ridge between the Eiger and the Mönch.




  For almost fifty years, these three remained the only established routes to the summit. The next objective was the Mittellegi Ridge, a long, sharp crest which rises close to Grindelwald and

  twists its way over several kilometres to the summit. The first attempt was in 1874 and many followed, mostly made by the customary mix of guides and British clients. The sticking point was a steep

  buttress known as the Great Tower, which proved beyond the technical capabilities of the time. Two parties who had reached the summit via one of the established routes descended the ridge, using

  their ropes to abseil down the Great Tower.




  This period brought a new influx of tourists, lured by a railway line running from Grindelwald to Lauterbrunnen via Kleine Scheidegg which was opened in 1893. It was complemented in the most

  dramatic fashion in 1912 by a further railway from Kleine Scheidegg to Jungfraujoch, the saddle between the Mönch and Jungfrau, taking passengers to within 700 metres of the Jungfrau’s

  summit. The line snaked its way through tunnels excavated into the Eiger itself, with a station named Eigerwand and several tunnel windows that were to be used by climbers looking for a quick exit

  from the face.




  The Mittellegi Ridge was finally climbed in 1921 by a law student from Tokyo, Yuko Maki. He arrived in Grindelwald in 1919 and spent the best part of two years studying the route through

  telescopes. He hired a guide, Samuel Brawand, who taught him to speak German and introduced him to the delights of Oberland beer (Brawand said later that he was impressed by how much Maki could

  drink). After climbing the Matterhorn, they made their attempt with two other Grindelwald guides, Fritz Amatter, who had already descended the ridge and Fritz Steuri. Amatter was equipped with a long pole with a hook at one end and spikes at the other, and they used it to overcome the Great Tower. They reached the summit at 7.15 p.m. and drove a makeshift flag,

  made of Amatter’s climbing pole with a handkerchief attached, into the summit as proof of their success.




  As a token of his gratitude to Grindelwald, Maki funded the construction of a climbing hut halfway up the ridge. He went on to a distinguished mountaineering career and led the Japanese

  expedition which made the first ascent of Manaslu in the Himalayas in 1956. However, his ascent presented the climbing world with an ethical dilemma. Strictly speaking, Maki and his guides had

  cheated by using Amatter’s pole. But the editor of the Alpine Journal, Percy Farrar, normally a stern guardian of the Alpine purity, took a forgiving view. ‘Most mountaineers

  will certainly deprecate all such artificial aids,’ Farrar wrote. ‘But in the case of the Mittellegi nearly fifty years had elapsed since the first attempt had taken place, and many a

  good climber had taken his shot without hitting the bull.’




  In 1932, one more new route was climbed – the fifth – to the right of the Mittellegi Ridge, following the line of buttresses that form the left-hand edge of the North Face. It was

  accomplished on 20 August by two Swiss mountaineers, Hans Lauper and Alfred Zürcher, both members of the Alpine Club, and the guides Joseph Knubel and Alexander Graven. Lauper, a dentist, had

  been as obsessional in his quest for the route as Maki, spending weeks in Grindelwald scanning the face through telescopes and waiting several years for it to come into the best condition. Even so,

  the party had to contend with dripping or iced-up rock, loose snow, and long stretches of steep ice. They took thirteen hours to reach the summit, where they shared a flask of spirits and the two

  guides smoked a cigar. In honour of the lead client, the line was called the Lauper Route.




  By then the Alpine Journal had a new editor, the idiosyncratic figure of Colonel Edward Lisle Strutt. Of classic upper-class background, Strutt was a graduate of

  Christ Church, Oxford, and a devout Roman Catholic. He fought with distinction in the First World War, was wounded four times and was awarded the DSO. He was an ardent monarchist and, in a daring

  episode in 1919, led a squad of British soldiers who spirited the Austrian royal family to safety from under the noses of republican forces, who had seized power in Vienna in the aftermath of the

  war. He was deputy leader of the 1922 British Everest expedition, proving to be arrogant and bad-tempered and, in the words of one climber, the most outrageous snob he had ever met. He became

  editor of the Alpine Journal in 1927.




  To Strutt, the ascent of the Lauper Route marked the end of the Eiger story, and he wrote this epitaph on climbing in the Oberland. ‘We must congratulate our members on a superb

  expedition, by far the most important of the 1932 season. We might add that it is a source of gratification to us that the N. face of the Eiger, the last important problem of the Bernese Oberland,

  should have been solved by this unsurpassed all-Swiss party.’ A photograph of the route, with the 1932 route marked with the usual dotted line, was captioned ‘Eiger N.Face’.

  Clearly, the vast expanse of the face that occupied most of the photo to the right of the dotted line counted for nothing. Job done, as far as Strutt was concerned.




  Strutt was ignoring the elephant in the room, that great sweep of the North Face that Lauper and his colleagues had spent thirteen hours skirting. But the Alpine Club, once in the vanguard of

  mountaineering developments, was now being left behind. Its greatest preoccupation was Everest, scene of the successive failures of the 1920s, culminating in the deaths of Mallory and Irvine,

  commemorated at a service at St Paul’s Cathedral which was attended by King George V and the entire British Cabinet. Now the club was concentrating on launching further attempts on Everest in

  partnership with the Royal Geographical Society, which considered itself custodian of British global exploration. After failure in 1933, further attempts were made in 1935,

  1936 and 1938, though none reached as high as Edward Norton – or possibly Mallory and Irvine – climbed in 1924. Just two Alpine Club members climbed new routes in the Alps of any

  significance between the two world wars.




  In the Alps, meanwhile, climbers from Germany, Austria and Italy were leading the way in what was, after all, their home territory. In contrast to the middle-class and professional gentlemen of

  the Alpine Club, most were working-class climbers seeking escape from the economic depression and unemployment that gripped Germany and Austria following the punitive settlement of the First World

  War. Most had no work or earned pittances from seasonal jobs on farms or in the forests, and they sustained themselves while climbing on little more than bread, sausage and apples. Somehow, out of

  this background, came a drive to climb the great north faces of the Alps. Where previously the faces had been dismissed as unthinkable, that was justification enough for the new generation of

  climbers. Many came from Munich in southern Germany, and it was from there in July 1931 that four climbers travelled the 300 miles to Zermatt intent on climbing the North Face of the Matterhorn.

  After camping beneath the face for a week of rain and snow, two gave up. The remaining pair, brothers Franz and Toni Schmid, both in their early twenties, stayed on and climbed the face in two

  days, with a bivouac in the upper part of the face.




  The next target was the North Face of the Grandes Jorasses in the Mont Blanc range, and it extracted a high price. Leo Rittler and Hans Brehm, both from Munich, died on the face in the summer of

  1931. In 1934 Rudolf Haringer, another Munich climber, died in a fall while retreating during the second day of an attempt. His partner, Rudolf Peters, survived and returned to the face in 1935,

  reaching the summit despite rockfall which injured his partner, Martin Meier. Climbing north faces was clearly a dangerous game and death appeared to resemble a baton, being

  passed from hand to hand, but there was still one major north face left.




  In August 1935, five weeks after Peters and Meier climbed the Grandes Jorasses, two more young men from Munich arrived at the meadows at Alpiglen. Their names were Max Sedlmayr and Karl

  Mehringer, and they had more money than most other Munich climbers. They travelled to Grindelwald in Mehringer’s trim two-seater BMW Dixi and wore stylish check shirts and patterned socks.

  Seventy years later they were remembered by the daughter of the hoteliers at the Hotel des Alpes at Alpiglen as friendly, personable and helpful young men. As she told the assiduous Eiger historian

  Rainer Rettner, they stayed in a bunkhouse adjoining the hotel and in the evenings, as they waited to make their attempt, they joined in singing with the hotel’s guests.




  Sedlmayr and Mehringer had a strong pedigree. Sedlmayr had climbed many of the toughest routes in the Dolomites. After teaming up that winter, the two men climbed a range of demanding summer

  routes in the eastern Alps before turning their attention to the Eiger. They were in no doubt about the challenge facing them. A year before, three fellow Germans had started an attempt but gave up

  after climbing the first third of the face. This is an easier-angled section that rises 600 metres to the point where the face abruptly steepens. (There is no accepted simple name in English for

  this lower section of the face, but in German it is known as the Vorbau – translated in dictionaries as a porch or balcony – and we have used the word in our account.) A senior German

  climber who had reconnoitred the face from the West Flank estimated it could take five days to climb, and warned Sedlmayr and Mehringer that if bad weather hit the mountain a retreat from high up

  would prove immensely difficult. The hotelkeeper at Alpiglen alerted them to the stonefall that raked the face in warm weather.




  The media were on their case, for a reporter from the Oberländischen Volksblattes asked them how they judged their chances. They guardedly told him that the

  weather prospects were against them and they were thinking of postponing their attempt to the following year. That may have been a ruse to put the reporter off the track, as they placed a cache of

  supplies at the foot of the route and then Mehringer climbed the West Flank to place a second cache at the summit. They set off from Alpiglen at 2 a.m. on Wednesday, 21 August.




  Sedlmayr and Mehringer spent that day climbing the Vorbau. That night they bivouacked at the foot of a cliff rising some 100 metres above the Vorbau that is now known as the First Band. The

  cliff is mostly vertical and in some places overhanging, and was subsequently accorded a difficulty of Grade V–VI, which put it close to the technical limit for climbers of the time. It took

  Sedlmayr and Mehringer the whole of 22 August to climb it, and they were compelled to remove their rucksacks and haul them up behind them. That night they reached a band of snow and ice that became

  known as the First Icefield. They made their second bivouac at its crest, as testified by watchers from Alpiglen who saw a light there at around 9 p.m.




  So far, including the easier Vorbau, it had taken Sedlmayr and Mehringer two days to climb 800 metres; 1000 metres remained. From this juncture, their progress slowed. They had less experience

  of ice than of rock, and they spent most of the next day crossing the expanse of what became known as the Second Icefield. Then the weather broke, shrouding the face in cloud. Two days later the

  clouds briefly parted, allowing a glimpse of the two men edging their way towards the top of a giant rock buttress that became known as the Bügeleisen, or Flatiron. They were never

  seen alive again.




  A group of Munich climbers, including Sedlmayr’s brother Heinrich, dashed to the Eiger in a fruitless bid to mount a rescue. Four weeks later a German pilot flying

  close to the face spotted the body of one of the climbers in the snow at the Flatiron. The later discovery of two pitons hammered into the rock at a ledge on top of the Flatiron suggested they had

  tried to shelter there – giving the site the name Death Bivouac. For a long time the two men were thought to have died there but Rettner has made a strong case for believing that they

  succumbed to cold and exhaustion or a fall while attempting to descend.




  In July 1936, four more climbers – two from southern Bavaria, two from Vienna – arrived at Alpiglen. What ensued was one of the greatest dramas in the Eiger’s spectacular and

  lurid history – and one in which the First Band was to be a major factor.




  First to venture on to the face, on 6 July, were the Austrians, Willy Angerer and Edi Rainer. Troubled by how long Sedlmayr and Mehringer had spent on the First Band, they searched for a line to

  the right which led them to the foot of a giant red cliff known as the Rote Fluh. After climbing a feature known as the Difficult Crack, they intended to traverse leftwards across a 40-metre

  stretch of rock that led to the First Icefield. The face was in bad condition, coursing with meltwater and stonefall, and the two retreated. On 18 July, they returned to the face and met the German

  pair, Andreas Hinterstoisser and Toni Kurz, below the Rote Fluh. They joined forces and Hinterstoisser embarked on the traverse towards the First Icefield, gaining traction by pulling against the

  climbing rope as it extended behind him – a manoeuvre known as a tension traverse. After the other three climbers had followed, they retrieved the rope and continued across the First

  Icefield. By 20 July they had reached the Flatiron and were close to the site of Sedlmayr and Mehringer’s final bivouac.




  On 21 July, the four men started to descend the face, most likely because Angerer had been injured by stonefall. When they reached the horizontal rock section leading off

  the First Icefield they found that it was covered with ice. If they had left their rope in place during the ascent, reversing the tension traverse would have been straightforward, but the ice had

  rendered it impassable. They attempted to bypass it by descending directly down the First Band. Then came catastrophe. Hinterstoisser slipped and fell to his death. The climbing rope caught around

  Angerer’s neck and he was strangled. Rainer was jammed tight against his belay point and froze to death. Only Kurz was left alive. He spent a nightmare twenty-four hours trying to reach

  safety before he too died of cold and exhaustion after a knot jammed in his abseil karabiner just a few metres above a group of rescuers. It was the most publicised Alpine accident since the

  Whymper disaster on the Matterhorn seventy-one years before.




  As these dramas unfolded, the elders of the Alpine Club had been watching, transfixed with horror. The European press had been critical, one newspaper railing against young climbers seeking

  ‘honour and glory’, but that was mild in comparison to the invective dispensed by Colonel Strutt, who by then was both the editor of the Alpine Journal and the club president.

  The deaths of Sedlmayr and Mehringer, Strutt wrote, demonstrated the ‘crass incompetence, complete ignorance or neglect of the first principles of mountaineering’ sweeping the Alps and

  were a ‘flagrant example of the neglect of every sane principle in the attempt to gain cheap notoriety by accomplishing mechanical variants to former routes’.




  Following the deaths in 1936, Strutt approvingly cited remarks in a Basle newspaper by a Swiss member, Dr Oskar Hug. ‘The forcing of the Eigerwand is principally a matter of luck –

  at least 90 per cent of the latter is required . . . This face climbing lies completely outside the pale of mountaineering, belonging far more to a degenerate form of the Children’s Crusade

  of the Middle Ages.’ Strutt added that ‘modern German methods of what is misnamed “mountaineering” are, but too often, thoroughly unsound, and in every way destructive to the first principles of that pastime as known to every beginner throughout the remainder of Europe’.




  In December 1937, when he finally quit as both journal editor and club president, Strutt delivered a valedictory address to club members. ‘The Eigerwand, still unscaled, continues to be an

  obsession for the mentally deranged of almost every nation,’ he raged. ‘He who first succeeds may rest assured that he has accomplished the most imbecile variant since mountaineering

  first began.’ Strutt’s outrage can only have deepened when two Italians fell to their deaths from the First Band in June 1938. So it must have been with some chagrin that his successor

  as editor, H.E.G. Tyndale, had to carry a report of the first ascent of the North Face in the very issue that contained Strutt’s speech of farewell.




  The climbers who succeeded were another German-Austrian foursome: Anderl Heckmair and Ludwig Vörg from Munich, Heinrich Harrer from Graz and Fritz Kasparek from Vienna. The year before,

  Vörg had been one of two climbers who were the first to return alive from a North Face attempt when he and Matthias Rebitsch retreated safely from the top of the Flatiron. Learning from that

  experience and their predecessors’ mistakes, the 1938 group left a rope in place across what was now termed the Hinterstoisser Traverse, and stashed ropes and equipment at a bivouac site

  known as the Swallow’s Nest as further safeguards in case of a retreat. Over the best part of four days they negotiated the great landmarks whose names became totemic in the Eiger’s

  history. There was the Ramp, the great slanting crack system that led leftwards above the Death Bivouac. Then the climbers crossed the slender ledge known as the Traverse of the Gods, which led

  them back to the centre of the face and the Spider, a steep, narrow icefield which acted as a funnel for avalanches and debris falling from the upper part of the face.




  Above the Spider came the Exit Cracks, a rising diagonal line presenting further technical demands on the way to the Summit Icefield, where the angle eased at last. They

  survived a series of mishaps and storms on their way to the summit. Kasparek slipped near the foot of the Ramp, and was held on the rope by Harrer. They battled through avalanches and a storm at

  the Spider. Heckmair fell in the Exit Cracks, injuring Vörg when one of Heckmair’s crampons impaled his hand. They endured an exhausting descent of the West Flank, losing their way in

  another storm, before stumbling into Kleine Scheidegg.




  The four men’s triumph was celebrated in the European press. But the report in the Alpine Journal, which had devoted pages to the Hinterstoisser disaster, was decidedly spare. The

  new editor, Tyndale, could not restrain himself from adding that in comparison with other recent north face ascents, such as those on the Matterhorn and the Grandes Jorasses, ‘the Eigerwand

  may be said to possess little or no “mountaineering” value. While bearing ungrudging tribute to the skill, endurance and modesty of the 1938 party, we see no reason to dissent from the

  opinion expressed on p.9 of the present volume’ – namely that of Colonel Strutt.




  Across the Atlantic, the American Alpine Journal was inclined to a similar view, although expressed in a more temperate way. The editor was an urbane ophthalmologist named J. Monroe

  Thorington, who made numerous first ascents in the Canadian Rockies in the 1910s and 1920s. He also wrote guidebooks and ghosted the autobiography of a leading Canadian guide, Conrad Kain. In 1938,

  Thorington observed that to write about the Eiger meant to relate a tale of ‘disaster, injury and death’, adding that it was ‘encouraging to note that even the German press is

  turning against these senseless exhibitions of heroics’.




  In 1939, Thorington reported only briefly on the previous year’s ascent. ‘The N. wall of the Eiger was finally ascended this past summer by an Austrian party composed of H. Harrer

  and F. Kasparek, and a German party composed of L. Vörg and A. Heckmaier [sic], the two parties combining their forces and making the climb together. The ascent took

  three days and was finished under extremely bad conditions with sleet, hail and fresh snow making the climbing more difficult and menacing the climbers. Perhaps, now that it has been demonstrated

  that this face can be climbed without the climbers meeting an untimely end, we shall have an end to attempts and accidents on this face.’




  In retrospect, the Alpine Club resembles a beached whale, stranded by the tide of mountaineering history and reduced to grumbling about the unfathomable behaviour of new generations of climbers.

  Yet it has to be said that the choleric Strutt had a point. At times the activities of the European climbers, with the incessant toll of casualties, must have resembled a death cult, enabling

  Strutt to observe that in his three years as club president not one member had died on a mountain. Strutt also regarded with distaste the alacrity with which official bodies in Germany and Austria

  had moved in to oversee climbing – anathema to the libertarian ambience of climbing in Britain, where any official oversight was unthinkable. Strutt may have been closer to the truth than

  anyone realised.




  In contrast to climbing in Britain, Alpinism in Germany and Austria was an organised affair which also provided a vehicle for an increasingly strident and sinister nationalism. In 1919, the

  combined German and Austrian Alpine union – the DuÖAV – had more than 250,000 members, organised into 400 sections. Before long its youth leader, Ernst Enzensperger, was

  celebrating its potential for achieving a ‘new, greater, more masterful, all-encompassing German Fatherland’. When the Nazis came to power they had a ready-made organisation and

  ideology at their disposal, and their propaganda machine was quick to seize the opportunities the Eiger presented. Before the Berlin Olympics of 1936, Hitler promised that

  anyone climbing the Eiger would receive a gold medal. A week after reaching the summit in 1938, the four climbers were presented to Hitler at a sports festival in Breslau. They were photographed

  with Hitler, who gave them a signed photograph of himself and pointed out that the alliance of the Austrian and German climbers symbolised Germany’s annexation of Austria four months before.

  An SS officer escorted the four on a holiday to Norway and the Nazis published a book about German attempts on the Eiger, culminating in the success in 1938.




  It can be argued that the four young climbers did not necessarily support the Nazis but merely went with the flow of predictable nationalist celebration of their success. Later, Harrer liked to

  say that meeting Hitler was the equivalent, for a British climber, of being introduced to the Queen – an honour that you could not turn down. But information about Harrer’s true

  allegiances was revealed during the 1990s. As a student teacher, Harrer joined the Nazi teachers’ organisation in Austria in January 1933 and the illegal Austrian paramilitary SA the same

  year. He joined the Nazi Party in 1938, became an adjutant in the SS and had dealings with its leader, Heinrich Himmler. In 1939, following an expedition to the Himalayan peak Nanga Parbat, Harrer

  was interned by the British in India. Later, a fellow internee testified that Harrer was a virulent Nazi. In 1944, he escaped to Tibet where he eventually became a tutor to the Dalai Lama. He

  returned to Austria in 1952 and wrote the bestselling Seven Years in Tibet. He died in 2006 at the age of ninety-three.




  Among the other three climbers, Fritz Kasparek had entirely different sympathies. As a socialist, he assisted Austrians seeking to enlist in the Republican forces who were fighting Franco in the

  Spanish Civil War. In 1938, after he was congratulated by Hitler at the sports rally at Breslau, Himmler personally asked him to join the SS – a request Kasparek felt he could not turn down.

  He became an instructor at an SS school for Alpine troops, and during the war fought in both France and the USSR. He died at the age of forty-four when he fell through a

  cornice during an expedition to the Peruvian Andes in 1954.




  Anderl Heckmair stayed as far away as possible from involvement with the Nazis. He joined a mountain regiment at the start of the Second World War, but an SS member denounced him as unreliable

  and he was sent to the Eastern Front. A fellow Alpinist, Rudolf Peters – who made the first ascent of the North Face of the Grandes Jorasses in 1935 – secured his transfer to an Alpine

  brigade. He survived the war and became a professional mountain guide, dying in 2005 at the age of ninety-eight. Ludwig Vörg also steered clear of the Nazis. He volunteered to join an Alpine

  regiment which was sent to the Eastern Front, and he was killed by a sniper on 22 June 1941 – the first day of Operation Barbarossa, the German invasion of the USSR. He was twenty-nine.




  After the war, as if the recent past had been cleansed away, activities on the North Face of the Eiger resumed. In July 1947, two stellar French climbers, Lionel Terray and Louis Lachenal,

  braved heavy stonefall and severe storms to make the second ascent in three days. There were twelve ascents by a total of thirty-five climbers, and six more deaths, before a new drama beset the

  face in 1957. Two German climbers who reached the summit died of exhaustion while attempting to descend the West Flank. Two Italians, Stefano Longhi and Claudio Corti, were marooned after Longhi

  was injured in a fall above the Traverse of the Gods. Corti was rescued by a climber who was lowered from the summit on a 300-metre steel cable. He strapped Corti to his back and they were hauled

  to safety. Longhi was out of reach and died of cold and exhaustion, haunting his would-be rescuers with his shouts of ‘Fame! Freddo!’ – ‘Hungry! Cold!’




  In March 1961 three Germans and one Austrian made the first winter ascent, enduring sub-zero temperatures for much of the six days they spent on the face. They had clear

  weather throughout and had the further advantage that the face was frozen, far reducing the risk of stonefall and waterfalls. In July 1962 came the first British attempt, by Barry Brewster, a

  chemistry and maths graduate from London, and Brian Nally, a painter and decorator. On the second day they had reached the top of the Second Icefield but Brewster was hit by falling stones and slid

  sixty metres down the icefield before being held on his rope. Nally climbed down to him and hauled him on to a ledge that he hacked out of the ice. The next morning Brewster was swept to his death

  by an avalanche.




  Nally was fortunate that two of Britain’s most accomplished climbers, Chris Bonington and Don Whillans, were a short distance behind. They escorted Nally across the Second Icefield,

  surviving a storm and further volleys of stones before they reached the Stollenloch, one of the railway tunnel windows that provided an escape route from the face. A month later, Bonington returned

  with a new partner, Ian Clough, to make the first British ascent. They were still on the face when a British climber and his Austrian partner fell to their deaths from the Second Icefield. The

  British climber, Tom Carruthers, had climbed the North Face of the Matterhorn with Nally the previous year.




  Despite the death toll, climbers continued to arrive at Alpiglen. In the next three weeks, twelve more reached the summit, and a Swiss climber attempting the first solo ascent died in a fall

  from low down on the face. The only previous attempt at a solo ascent had ended the same way. On 19 August, eight more climbers set off up the face. One was a German law student named Konrad Kirch.

  His partner was an American air force flying officer named John Harlin.




  





  
Chapter Three





  FALLING IN LOVE




  John Harlin first saw the Eiger when he was nineteen. It was 1954, and he was making a pilgrimage to the Alps from his home in California, where he was about to start his

  second year at Stanford University. He had started climbing as a freshman and was already steeped in the legends of the North Face. He spent a long time at the Kleine Scheidegg telescopes, scanning

  the face for the mythic locations of its spectacular history: the Death Bivouac, the Ramp, the Traverse of the Gods, the Spider.




  Harlin was in distinguished company at Kleine Scheidegg. Another visitor was none other than Tenzing Norgay, the Sherpa climber who had made the first ascent of Everest with the New Zealand

  beekeeper Edmund Hillary the previous year. Tenzing had numerous friends in Switzerland, having come tantalisingly close to making the first ascent of Everest with a Swiss expedition in May 1952.

  He had spent two weeks in Switzerland after Everest, and in 1954 was taking a course to qualify as a mountain guide at a training school at the Oberland resort of Rosenlaui. As part of his

  training, he and his Sherpa colleagues were to climb to the summit of the Jungfrau, 2100 metres above Kleine Scheidegg.




  As Harlin related to his girlfriend – and future wife – Marilyn Miler, he introduced himself to Tenzing and spent some time in his company. He told her that he

  had attached himself to Tenzing’s party and joined them in the climb to the summit of the Jungfrau. His story was amplified in the biography of Harlin by Jim Ullman, who noted that the route

  to the Jungfrau passes along the West Ridge of the Eiger, where Harlin and Tenzing ‘studied at close hand the complexities of the bordering face’. They even did some exploratory

  scrambling on the lower part of the face itself, ‘but turned back at the point where the real difficulties began’.




  There is a problem with these stories. Not everything Harlin said about himself, even to his wife, turned out to be true. What is more, Ullman sometimes added imaginative details to his

  narrative. Ed Douglas, the British writer who is Tenzing’s most recent biographer, considers it plausible that Harlin should have met Tenzing at Kleine Scheidegg, but is sceptical about

  whether the training school director, Arnold Glatthard, would have allowed a nineteen-year-old American to tag along. Even so, Marilyn Harlin, who was well aware of her husband’s tendency to

  exaggerate and falsify, was inclined – sixty years on – to believe the Tenzing story, principally because of the detail it contained.




  Besides confirming that stories about Harlin need to be carefully examined, the episode says much about him. According to Ullman, it was during that visit that Harlin first formed the ambition

  to climb the Eiger, one that would shape the rest of his life. Assuming that the core of the story is true, it also demonstrates an ability to make important friends and forge useful relationships.

  Even at nineteen, this handsome Californian, with his blond hair and athletic physique, had a personable, outward-going charm. It also reveals someone who was no insular American but a confirmed

  Europhile. He had spent four years living in Europe after the war, as his father, an airline executive with TWA, was posted to Ireland and Paris, where the family lived in an

  eighteenth-century château close to the Palace of Versailles. He was a devoted traveller, a cosmopolitan who relished the sense of discovery that comes from exploring new places. But then, as

  his father liked to say, a love of both travelling and high places may have been in his son’s blood. He was conceived in La Paz, Bolivia, which at 4000 metres is almost exactly the height of

  the Eiger. His father – also called John Harlin – was flying planes for a mining company operating in the Amazon basin. He had previously been a TWA pilot but lost his job when the

  company went bankrupt. Nine months later, after TWA had been reconstituted, he was working at its headquarters in Kansas City, Missouri, which is where, on 30 June 1935, his son was born.




  As his mother described them, the first years of Harlin’s life were ‘so wonderful, almost too much so to be true’. Genevieve Sussenbach, known from her maiden name as Sue, came

  from Illinois and married John Harlin I in 1930. John Harlin II was an only child and, she told Ullman, ‘a joy to be around and a joy to take anywhere’. She was quick to add:

  ‘That is not to be construed to mean that he was a goody good, sitting around polishing his halo. He was all boy, he played hard, he laughed, he was angry, he cried . . . He had home, he had

  dogs, he had freedom.’ His father had resumed flying and was away for much of the time, but the family made trips that whetted Harlin’s appetite for the great outdoors: boating and

  fishing on the lakes of Minnesota, shooting pheasants in South Dakota, trekking into the Black Hills, the Tetons and Yellowstone. For Sue Harlin, the memories were so pure and powerful that she

  told Ullman: ‘John’s childhood is sacred to us.’




  Harlin was seven when the idyll came to an end. When the US and Japan went to war in December 1941, John Harlin Sr, then thirty-five, became a pilot for the US Navy. He was based first in

  Kansas and then in Hawaii, flying transport planes in the Pacific, while Sue and John Harlin II moved to Oakland, California. Harlin Sr returned to TWA in 1945 and spent the

  next four years working in management for the company in Europe. It was an exciting and glamorous time, not only because the family lived in a château in Versailles. Harlin Sr used his flight

  privileges to take his family on excursions to Spain, Italy, Greece and Egypt, Warsaw and Prague. The Harlins returned to the US in 1949 and settled in Redwood City, California, where Harlin Sr

  left management and returned to flying.




  California was home for the next six years of the young Harlin’s life. He attended Sequoia Union High School at Redwood City, where he shone in arts subjects such as English and history.

  He was intellectually curious and questioning, interested in politics and current affairs. He was also developing artistic talents. He liked to draw and later took up painting. His interests

  included nature, interior design, women’s clothing and fashion. He excelled at sports, playing on the school American football team, sprinting and jumping in the track team. He was also a

  keen wrestler, gymnast and swimmer, all of which helped him develop from a skinny preadolescent into a muscular athlete – and one who was well aware of his powerful physique.




  Harlin took to wearing brief shorts and tight tee-shirts, and liked to pose, both for his schoolmates and for the camera, presenting one of a number of parallels between him and George Mallory.

  The English writer and historian Lytton Strachey said that Mallory had the body of an athlete carved by the Greek sculptor Praxiteles; a school friend of Harlin said he had a ‘Greek god

  body’. One of the most celebrated images of Mallory consists of a nude photograph taken by the Bloomsbury artist Duncan Grant, with Mallory commenting, ‘I like the nude me.’

  Harlin posed for muscle magazines and on one occasion, like Mallory, was persuaded to remove all his clothes, which led to the magazine publishers being arrested (though not

  Harlin). When Ullman used the word ‘homosexual’ in a draft account of this phase of Harlin’s life, lawyers acting for his parents demanded that it be excised. Ullman agreed,

  spelling out that ‘in the actual living of his life, there is no slightest suggestion that he was ever anything but sexually normal’. Yet Harlin’s absorption with his own image

  led Ullman to use the term ‘narcissistic’, which survived the lawyer’s demands for excisions.




  There are signs of unresolved conflicts within Harlin, which gave rise to bursts of violence and anger that persisted into his adult life. They became so disturbing that when he was nineteen his

  mother wrote to him, setting out her anxieties: ‘My dear John,’ she began. ‘For some long time I have hoped for a heart to heart talk with you but the time never seems right. I

  hope you will read this letter thru without a hot flare of temper and ponder it over and over. I sense a terrific chip on your shoulder and it seems very definitely to be me.’




  Sue Harlin devoted the rest of her letter to searching for faults that could have contributed to her son’s anger. She confessed to feeling ‘terribly tired’ as she grew old (she

  was in her mid-forties). She was likely to magnify minor irritations, and said that as her husband was doing his best to hold down several jobs, her son’s assistance would be appreciated.

  ‘I need your help, I can only hope that you need mine. Together we could make Dad unmeasurably happy.’ It was a poignant testimony from a mother who later sought to protect the memories

  of her son’s childhood, listing for Ullman the positive qualities he had displayed as a teenager: ‘With John’s vitality and beautifully wonderful inquiring mind, unafraid, it was

  necessary to probe into everything, no matter how far out . . . He was a crusader, a converter, a bringer-home of new ideas . . .’




  By the time his mother wrote to him, Harlin was completing his first year at Stanford. His father had hoped he would join the US Navy and Harlin attended a preparatory

  naval academy, but disliked the discipline and regimentation. At Stanford he studied English, French, history, geology and art, later majoring in art and dress design. He continued to explore

  radical ideas, moving politically to the left of his parents and also declaring himself – unlike them – an atheist. He signed up for the university American football squad and also

  played a few games of rugby.




  Soon after arriving at Stanford, Harlin had two crucial new encounters. The first was with climbing, the second with Marilyn Miler, a science student from the north-west US. A friend from the

  Stanford football squad, Paul Revak, took Harlin climbing on crags and outcrops in the hills nearby. He joined the Stanford Alpine Club and ventured further afield, to the granite walls of

  Yosemite, fast becoming the proving ground for aspirant American climbers. In short order he was hooked. Later, he would explore his reasons for climbing and the challenges and rewards it brought.

  For the moment he contented himself with constantly pushing his standards, climbing with a raw natural energy that compensated for a lack of the highest climbing techniques.




  It was through climbing that he met Marilyn Miler. She went to a Sunday climbing meet where he was instructing and they were soon dating. She was twenty, pretty, slim, with blue eyes, a

  scholarship student majoring in biology, and he called her Mara. She came from near Olympia, the capital city of the state of Washington, where her parents had withdrawn from the urban rat race to

  subsist on farming and earnings from her father’s work as a carpenter.




  Harlin brought excitement to her life. ‘I had grown up as a recluse without travel or excitement,’ she related in a memoir, Making Waves, published in 2014. ‘His life

  was one of adventure.’ He enthralled her with his stories of living in a Versailles château, visiting Prague after the war, and making a reconnaissance of the

  North Face of the Eiger with Everest hero Tenzing Norgay. ‘Not all of his stories held up under scrutiny,’ she conceded, even though she considered the Tenzing anecdote sound.




  In the summer of 1955, Harlin made a second trip to Europe, from which two of his more fanciful stories emerged. Together with an American law student named Richard Collins, whom he had met by

  chance in Geneva, he travelled to Zermatt with the intention of climbing the North Face of the Matterhorn. But after setting out they were unable to find the foot of the route and switched to the

  Hörnli Ridge, the easiest route to the summit, taken by thousands of climbers every year. They were turned back by bad weather 300 metres below the summit and had a narrow escape when Collins

  slipped on a patch of ice. Harlin was struggling to hold him on their rope when three guides came to their rescue. Harlin nonetheless sent Marilyn a postcard inscribed: ‘I climbed the N. face

  of the Matterhorn.’ He also listed the supposed ascent on his application form when he eventually joined the American Alpine Club (AAC).




  The second story emanated from his hope of becoming a dress designer. He was looking for jobs when his father’s Paris connections brought an introduction to Pierre Balmain, the French

  couturier and fashion-house head. Balmain invited him to a weekend house party where, Balmain related, he appeared on the lawn ‘wearing the briefest of red shorts’. Balmain said that he

  and his companions ‘greatly admired both his physique and his nonchalance at displaying it’. If this was a ploy by Harlin, conscious or otherwise, to persuade Balmain to employ him, it

  failed. But Harlin later reversed the truth to claim that he had worked for a time as an apprentice in Balmain’s design studio. It was no more accurate than his claim to have climbed the

  North Face of the Matterhorn.
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